1993

LaSal Oil Company, Inc. v. Chicago Insurance Company (Interstate Insurance Group); Omaha Indemnity (Frank B. Hall): Zurich Insurance Company; and Utah Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal by LaSal Oil Company, Inc. ("LaSal") pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(k) on the basis that it is a case transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Utah Supreme Court. The Utah Supreme Court had jurisdiction over the appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) on the basis that the order from which LaSal seeks relief was certified as a final order pursuant to Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Trial Court Err When it Held that the Term "Sudden" in the Exception to the Pollution Exclusion Found in Omaha Indemnity's Comprehensive General Liability Policy is Unambiguous?

Standard of Review

Rule 56(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides in pertinent part as follows:

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

In Fashion Place Investment, Ltd. v. Salt Lake County, 776 P.2d 941 (Utah Ct. App. 1989), the Utah Court of Appeals enunciated the standard when the trial court has granted a motion for summary judgment:

Because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, we review the trial courts

conclusions of law for correctness. Id. If a trial court interprets a contract as a matter of law, that interpretation is not afforded any particular deference on appeal. Power Sys. & Controls, Inc. v. Keith's Elec. Constr. Co., 765 P.2d 5, 9 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).... [I]f the contract is ambiguous, but the case is decided on summary judgment, we can affirm only if the undisputed material facts, concerning the parties' intent, demonstrate the successful litigant's position is correct as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

Id. at 943. See also, Stevenson v. First Colony Life Ins. Co., 827 P.2d 973, 976 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (the trial court's interpretation of an insurance contract is reviewed under a correctness standard); Kitchen v. Cal Gas Co., 821 P.2d 458, 460 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (the appellate court reviews the trial court's conclusions of law for correctness, including its conclusions that there are no material fact issues).

As set forth in Home Savings & Loan v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 817 P.2d 341, 347 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), "[t]he interpretation of a contract normally presents a question of law." Interpretation of an insurance contract by the district court is given no particular deference on appeal.

2. **Assuming, Arguendo, That "Sudden" is Unambiguous and Has a Temporal Aspect of Abruptness, Did the Court Nevertheless Err in Holding That the Release of Gasoline From Plaintiff's Underground Line Was Not "Sudden"?**

Standard of Review

An appellate court, in reviewing a summary judgment, analyzes the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the losing party. Atlas Corp. v. Clovis Nat'l Bank, 737 P.2d 225,

229 (Utah 1987). As stated in Hunt v. ESI Engineering, Inc., 808 P.2d 1137, 1139 (Utah Ct. App. 1991):

Summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.... The facts and inferences to be drawn therefrom are viewed in the light most favorable to the losing party and are affirmed only where it appears that there is no genuine dispute as to any material issues of fact, or where, even according to the facts as contended by the losing party, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (Citations omitted.)

See also, Silcox v. Skaggs Alpha Beta, Inc., 814 P.2d 623, 623-34 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Trial Court.

This is a declaratory judgment action filed by LaSal against nine insurance companies which provided comprehensive general liability and excess liability coverage for a service station owned and operated by LaSal in Moab, Utah (the "LaSal Station"). The insurance policies provided coverage for the period from April 1, 1975 through March 8, 1986. LaSal requested the court to declare that the defendant insurers had a duty to defend LaSal in three underlying actions (the "Underlying Actions")¹ and

¹ The underlying actions are:
Arthur Ross, et al. v. LaSal Oil Co., et al., Civil No. 5660, Seventh Judicial District Court in and for Grand County, State of Utah ("Ross");
Hartford Leasing Corp. v. LaSal Oil, et al., Civil No. 5692, Seventh Judicial District Court in and for Grand County, State of Utah ("Hartford"); and

to indemnify LaSal for any judgment or settlement arising out of claims in those three actions. In the Underlying Actions, the plaintiffs and the State of Utah alleged that LaSal, among others, had released gasoline from underground storage tanks and/or lines and had thereby caused property damage and bodily injury. The Utah Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association (the "Guaranty Association") was added as a defendant because two of the insurers, Midland Insurance Company ("Midland") and Carriers Insurance Company ("Carriers"), declared insolvency and were, accordingly, insured by the Guaranty Association pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 31A-28-20 et seq.

On September 10, 1990, LaSal filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment against three of the defendants--Omaha Indemnity ("Omaha"), Travelers Insurance Company ("Travelers") and Allianz Insurance Company ("Allianz")--requesting that the court declare that these three primary carriers had a duty to defend LaSal in the Underlying Actions (R. 491-495). Defendants Travelers, Allianz and Omaha filed cross-motions for summary judgment requesting the court to declare that these three insurers had no liability under their policies and, accordingly, no duty to defend or indemnify LaSal.

At a hearing before the district court on May 17, 1991 (R. 3046-3194), the court expressed concern as to whether it could rule on the issues of the insurers' duties to defend and indemnify when so little was known regarding the timing of the initial

In the Matter of LaSal Oil Co., et al., Civil No. 90-039-OHI, and the Order to Abate, No. 8712456 issued in accordance thereto (the "State Action").

release of gasoline from the underground line at the LaSal Station. Accordingly, the court ordered that additional discovery be undertaken regarding (1) the timing of the initial release of gasoline from the underground line and (2) the timing of the property damage/personal injuries in the Underlying Actions. As part of this discovery, LaSal asked its hydrogeologic consultant, EarthFax Engineering, Inc. ("EarthFax") to review the available data on the hydrocarbon contamination in Moab and to estimate the date when the discharge from the underground line began--assuming for the purposes of this analysis only--that all hydrocarbon contamination in Moab was derived solely from the leak at the LaSal Station and not from other potentially responsible parties. In addition to reviewing the existing data, EarthFax undertook additional sampling in Moab to aid in its analysis. EarthFax set forth its analysis and conclusions regarding the timing of the hydrocarbon release at the LaSal Station in a report entitled "Potential Timing of Hydrocarbon Leakage at LaSal Oil Company," dated October 31, 1991 (the "1991 EarthFax Report") (R. 1640-1663).²

Based upon the 1991 EarthFax Report, gasoline from the LaSal Station would have initially been released into the environment between February, 1983 and September, 1984.

² In addition to the report, affidavits of Richard B. White, the principle investigator at EarthFax who oversaw the work conducted by EarthFax for LaSal in Moab, and the affidavit of Lon P. Hamp, the EarthFax hydrogeologist who authored the 1991 EarthFax Report and who undertook the calculations found therein, were submitted to the court (R. 1664-1671 and 1673-1679, respectively).

Accordingly, damage to the environment in the form of gasoline pollution of the State's soils and groundwater resources would have first occurred within the Midland, Carriers or Omaha Policy periods. LaSal argued that the court should, accordingly, hold that Midland, Carriers and Omaha had a duty to defend LaSal in the State Action.

The 1991 EarthFax Report also estimated that contaminants would have arrived at the southern boundary of the Ross plaintiffs' residential properties no sooner than July, 1986. Any property damage or bodily injury would have occurred after that date and, as a result, would have occurred after the primary carriers' policy periods. Based on the EarthFax estimates LaSal conceded that none of the primary insurers, including Omaha or Carriers, owed a duty to defend LaSal in Ross (R. 1634-1635).

On the basis of the 1991 EarthFax Report, LaSal further argued that if the Hartford Leasing property were contaminated solely by a gasoline release from the LaSal Station, contaminants would have arrived at the Hartford Leasing property some time between approximately October-November, 1984 and July, 1986 (R. 1635-1636). As a result, contamination of the Hartford Leasing property occurred some time during the Carriers or the Omaha Policy periods. Accordingly, LaSal asked the court to hold that Carriers and Omaha had a duty to defend LaSal in the Hartford action.

After hearings held on March 23, 1992 and October 20, 1992, the court granted Travelers' and Allianz' Motions for Summary Judgment against LaSal on the basis that there was no evidence

establishing the possibility of an "occurrence," as defined in the Travelers and Allianz policies, during the Travelers or Allianz Policy periods. Pursuant to such ruling, Travelers and Allianz were dismissed with prejudice from the lawsuit (R. 1881-1883). LaSal does not appeal the ruling dismissing Travelers and Allianz.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the district court on December 17, 1992 wherein LaSal and Omaha presented expert testimony to assist the court in determining whether the holes in the underground gasoline line at the LaSal Station resulted in a "sudden" discharge of gasoline (R. 3195-3320). The Omaha Policy excludes coverage for pollution, except where the discharge or release is "sudden and accidental."

In a Memorandum Decision filed on January 21, 1993 (R. 1886-1893), the district court ruled that the term "sudden" was not ambiguous and that the release of gasoline at the LaSal Station was not "sudden" within the meaning of the pollution exclusion. Accordingly, the district court determined that no coverage was afforded LaSal under the Omaha Policy. In addition to the Memorandum Decision, the district court filed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on February 11, 1993 (R. 1894-1903), together with a Judgment (R. 1904-1906) in favor of Omaha, holding that Omaha had no duty to defend or indemnify LaSal in any of the Underlying Actions and that plaintiff's Complaint was dismissed with prejudice on the merits.

Omaha filed a Motion for Rule 54(b) Certification and supporting memorandum on April 9, 1993 (R. 1929-1930 and 1920-1928).

On May 4, 1993, upon the stipulation of counsel (R. 1932-1935), the district court ordered entry of summary judgment on behalf of Chicago Insurance Co. ("Chicago") based upon the fact that Chicago was the excess carrier for Omaha and the court having found that there was no coverage under the Omaha Policy (R. 1936-1939). The Order of Summary Judgment on behalf of Chicago incorporated by reference the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment that were previously entered on behalf of Omaha. Chicago filed a Motion for Rule 54(b) Certification on May 10, 1993 (R. 1949-1951).

In May, 1993, LaSal, the Guaranty Association and Zurich Insurance Co. ("Zurich") entered into a Stipulation, Motion and Order (R. 1962-1969), based upon the district court's January 20, 1993 Memorandum Decision (R. 1886-1893), the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 1894-1903), and the Judgment in favor of Omaha (R. 1904-1906). The stipulation provided that the Guaranty Association was entitled to an Order granting it partial summary judgment by reason of the pollution exclusion found in the Carrier Policy. The stipulation likewise provided Zurich was entitled to an order granting it summary judgment as an excess insurer to the Carrier Policy. Based upon the Stipulation, the court granted partial summary judgment to the Guaranty Association and summary judgment to Zurich. This Order was entered and filed with the

clerk of the Third Judicial District Court on May 27, 1993 (R. 1966-1969).

Plaintiff LaSal and defendants Omaha, Chicago, the Guaranty Association and Zurich entered into a Stipulation, Motion and Order stipulating and moving the court for an order certifying the three judgments to be final orders and that each of the judgments be entered as final orders in accordance with Rule 54(b) (R. 1962-1969). The three judgments certified as Rule 54(b) final orders are found at R. 1904-1906, 1036-1939, 1958-1961. It is these three judgments, certified as Rule 54(b) final orders, from which LaSal now appeals.

This appeal is taken from such part of the underlying summary judgments which hold, as a matter of fact and law, that the word "sudden," as found in the exception to the pollution exclusion, is not ambiguous and has a temporal meaning, that the holes in an underground gasoline transmission at the LaSal Station did not result in a "sudden and accidental" discharge of gasoline, and thus that the discharge or release did not fall within the exception to the pollution exclusion found in the Omaha and Carriers Policies, and that Omaha and Carriers had no duty to defend or indemnify LaSal in the Underlying Actions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. History of Hydrocarbon Contamination.

1. Since 1977, LaSal has owned the LaSal Station, located at 322 South Main, Moab, Utah (R. 1895, ¶ 1).

2. In approximately December, 1985, the Utah Department of Health, Southeastern Utah Health District, located in Moab, began receiving complaints of gasoline fumes in a building located to the northwest of the LaSal Station. The tenants of this building include Walker Drug, Spencer's Office Supply and a medical center (this building is hereinafter referred to as the "Walker Drug Building"). By approximately April, 1987, hydrocarbon fumes were reported in four private residences located approximately 475 to 600 feet northwest of the Walker Drug Building.

3. In January, 1986, Ray Klepzig, President of LaSal, learned of the presence of gasoline fumes in and adjacent to the Walker Drug Building. Because of the possibility that the gasoline fumes might be due to a release from the LaSal Station's underground storage tanks and/or lines, LaSal had the lines and tanks tested (R. 1896, ¶ 7; 3216-3217).

4. As a result of this investigation, five small holes were discovered in the coupling threads of an underground gasoline transmission line between an underground gasoline storage tank and a gasoline dispenser (R. 1896, ¶ 8; 3216-3223).³ LaSal replaced all of the lines between the underground storage tanks and the

³ The pipe section with the five small holes was admitted as Exhibit 1-P at the December 17, 1992 evidentiary hearing. Exhibit 4-D, also admitted into evidence, is a photograph of the same pipe section (R. 1885).

dispensers. Since that time, all underground storage tanks and lines at the LaSal Station have tested tight.⁴

5. The underground gasoline transmission lines at the LaSal Station were subjected at all times to pressure of approximately 25 pounds per square inch (psi). When the gasoline dispensers were activated the gasoline transmission lines were subjected to approximately 40-45 psi of pressure (R. 1896; 3215).

6. State and federal agencies began investigating the hydrocarbon contamination in Moab. Preliminary data indicated that a hydrocarbon plume contaminating the soils and ground water extended from at least the vicinity of the Third South and South Main intersection northwest toward the confluence of Pack and Mill creeks (R. 2512-2515).

7. On December 7, 1987, the Utah Division of Environmental Health and the Utah Solid and Hazardous Waste Committee served Orders to Abate on LaSal and Rio Vista Oil Co., Ltd. ("Rio Vista") (R. 2189-2194, 3023-3027). Rio Vista owns and operates a gasoline station on the southeast corner of the Third South and South Main intersection.

8. The Utah Division of Environmental Health (now, the Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ")), in accordance with Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-46d-1, et seq., held a formal adjudicative hearing in October, 1990 on the Orders to Abate issued to LaSal and Rio Vista. The purpose of the hearing, according to the State, was

⁴ A small hole in one of the underground lines, which was discovered and promptly repaired in July 1992, is not relevant to this action.

to uphold the Orders to Abate issued to LaSal and Rio Vista. On October 31, 1991, the DEQ issued its Order, concluding that the Orders to Abate issued to LaSal and Rio Vista were correct, as a matter of law, and should be affirmed. This conclusion was based on the DEQ's findings that a release of petroleum products from the LaSal and Rio Vista Stations had contributed to contamination of soils and ground water in the Moab area. LaSal appealed the order issued by the DEQ. On December 18, 1992, the Utah Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the order of the DEQ on the basis that the DEQ's findings of fact were insufficient to permit meaningful appellate review. LaSal Oil Co., Inc. v. Department of Environmental Quality, 843 P.2d 1045 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

9. On or about March 29, 1988, a civil action was filed against LaSal and Rio Vista in the Seventh Judicial District Court in and for Grand County, State of Utah, styled Arthur Ross, et al. v. LaSal Oil Co., Rio Vista Oil, Ltd. and John Does 1-20, Civil No. 5660 (R. 2572-2597). The plaintiffs in Ross claimed that gasoline fumes from the LaSal and Rio Vista Stations had entered their homes. In September, 1992, trial was held in the Seventh Judicial District Court for Grand County. The jury apportioned liability between LaSal, Rio Vista and a third service station, the Auto Tire Service Center. A settlement was entered into between LaSal and the plaintiffs after trial, and no judgment was entered against LaSal.

10. On or about June 3, 1988, a second civil action styled Hartford Leasing Corp. v. Rio Vista Oil, Ltd., LaSalle [sic]

Oil Co., State of Utah, Dependable Janitorial Service and John Does I-X, Civil No. 5692, was filed against LaSal, among others, in the Seventh Judicial District Court of Grand County, State of Utah. Plaintiff alleged that petroleum products released by the defendants resulted in the infiltration of hydrocarbon vapors into the Moab Regional Center, a building owned by plaintiff (R. 2598-2612). In March, 1993, defendants LaSal and the State of Utah filed motions to dismiss plaintiff's Complaint for lack of prosecution. Defendant Rio Vista joined the motions filed by the State and LaSal. In a ruling filed on June 21, 1993, the district court granted defendants' motions to dismiss plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice for failure to prosecute. Plaintiff has appealed this decision.

B. The Insurance Policies.

11. Carriers issued a comprehensive general liability ("CGL") policy under which LaSal was one of the named insureds, Policy No. LP-400088 (the "Carriers Policy"), with a policy period from April 1, 1983 to April 1, 1984. The Carriers Policy was renewed with coverage extended to April 1, 1985. The Carriers Policy was cancelled effective August 6, 1984 (R. 2019-2109).

12. Carriers was declared insolvent and ordered liquidated by the Iowa District Court for Polk County, effective January 16, 1986.

13. Zurich issued a commercial umbrella liability policy (the "Zurich Policy") under which LaSal was one of the named insureds. The Zurich Policy provided excess coverage above the

underlying Carriers Policy. The Zurich Policy is Policy No. CU 3101-012-00 and has a policy period from April 9, 1984 to April 9, 1985. The Zurich Policy was cancelled effective July 1, 1984 (R. 6).

14. Omaha issued a CGL policy under which LaSal was one of the named insureds, Policy No. CL000269 (the "Omaha Policy"), with a policy period from July 1, 1984 to July 1, 1985 (R. 1895, ¶ 2).

15. Chicago issued a commercial umbrella liability policy (the "Chicago Policy") under which LaSal is the named insured. The Chicago Policy affords excess coverage above the underlying Omaha Policy CL-000269 (R. 460). The Chicago Policy is Policy No. 55C-2059706 and has a policy period from July 1, 1984 to July 1, 1985 (R. 452-465).

16. Under the "duty to defend" provision found in the Omaha and Carriers Policies, Omaha and Carriers agreed to:

. . . defend any suit against the insured seeking damages on account of such bodily injury or property damage, even if any of the allegations of the suit are groundless, false or fraudulent, . . .

(R. 2146, 2023.)

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