1993

LaSal Oil Company, INC v. Chicago Insurance Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The pollution exclusion under the policies in question clearly and unambiguously precludes coverage for any discharge of pollutants into the environment, unless the discharge is "sudden and accidental." This Court has joined the other jurisdictions that have adopted the "more well-reasoned view" that the "sudden and accidental" exception to the pollution exclusion is unambiguous and has held that the word "sudden" "must have a temporal aspect to its meaning and not just a sense of something unexpected." Gridley Associates, Ltd. v. Transamerica Ins. Co., 828 P.2d 524, 527 (Utah App. 1992).

This Court reviewed the differing views of the pollution exclusion in Gridley and does not need to re-examine the issue whether "sudden" is unambiguous. "'Sudden' within the 'sudden and accidental' clause cannot be defined without reference to the temporal element, specifically immediacy, abruptness, and quickness." Id.

The Gridley decision clearly distinguished between a discharge resulting from a "clean break" of a gasoline dispenser line that is "caused by an adjustment of the area in which it is in" and a break "caused by corrosion or deterioration which would have resulted in a gradual drip or trickle of gasoline from the line." Id. A clean break is deemed sudden, but a discharge of the type found in our case, namely a corrosively caused slow seepage leak, cannot be deemed sudden.

LaSal erroneously argues that any discharge, whether corrosively caused or caused by a classical break in the line, is sudden and, therefore, within the exception to the pollution exclusion. These insurers respectfully submit that such an interpretation would eviscerate the meaning of "sudden" in the pollution exclusion and render it mere surplusage. Gridley clearly rejects this approach. Therefore, because this corrosively caused discharge cannot be deemed "sudden", the judgments dismissing LaSal's action against these insurers should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE POLLUTION EXCLUSION IS UNAMBIGUOUS AND
PRECLUDES COVERAGE UNDER THE INSURERS'
POLICIES.

The pollution exclusion contained in the Omaha Policy¹ excludes coverage for:

bodily injury or property damage arising out of the discharge . . . of vapors . . . fumes . . . liquids or gases . . . or other irritants, contaminants or pollutants into or upon land . . . or other course or body of water; but this exclusion does not apply if the discharge . . . is sudden and accidental.

R. 1898 (emphasis added).

As acknowledged by LaSal in its Appellant's Brief, this Court has held in Gridley that "sudden" in the "sudden and accidental" exception to the pollution exclusion in a comprehensive general liability policy of insurance is unambiguous. Appellant's Brief at 23.

A. Well established rules of contract interpretation require the Court to give full effect to both "sudden and accidental."

Under Utah law the question of a contract's ambiguity is a question of law. Gridley, 828 P.2d at 526, (quoting Crowther v. Carter, 767 P.2d 129, 131 (Utah App. 1989) (citing Faulkner v. Farnsworth, 665 P.2d 1292, 1293 (Utah 1983))). Insurance contracts are construed according to general contract principles and are, therefore, subject to the same rules of construction. Village Inn Apts. v. State Farm, 790 P.2d 581 (Utah App. 1990).

¹The policies of the other insurers joining in this brief are either identical to or follow form of the Omaha Policy. Therefore, all references to Omaha's Policy apply to all other insurers' policies.

Utah law clearly states that an insurance policy is to be construed against an insurer only when the contract is ambiguous. Atlas Corp. v. Clovis Nat. Bank, 737 P.2d 225, 229 (Utah 1987) (citing Big Butte Ranch v. Holme, 570 P.2d 690 (Utah 1977)); Fire Ins. Exchange v. Allsop, 709 P.2d 389, 390 (Utah 1985).

Utah rules of contract interpretation establish that an objective and reasonable construction be applied to the contract in its entirety. Utah State Med. Assoc. v. Utah State Employee's Credit Union, 655 P.2d 643, 646 (Utah 1982). A policy is to be interpreted by Utah courts by giving its words "their plain, ordinary and popular sense, as an average or reasonable person with ordinary understanding would construe them." Draughon v. CUNA Mut. Ins. Society, 771 P.2d 1105, 1108 (Utah App. 1989) (quoting Clark v. Prudential Ins. Co., 204 Kan. 47, 464 P.2d 253, 257 (1970)). Extrinsic or parol evidence is generally inadmissible to determine the intent of the parties if the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous. Larson v. Overland Thrift and Loan, 818 P.2d 1316, 1319 (Utah App. 1991), cert. denied, 832 P.2d 476 (Utah 1992).

A court may not add, ignore or discard words while interpreting contractual terms. Cornwall v. Willow Creek Country Club, 13 Utah 2d 160, 369 P.2d 928, 929 (1962). Finally, Utah rules of construction require the Court to harmonize contractual provisions in order to give all terms full effect. See Vance v.

Arnold, 114 Utah 463, 201 P.2d 475 (1949); G.G.A. Inc. v. Leventis, 773 P.2d 841 (Utah App. 1989).

Thus, Utah law clearly requires courts to determine the ordinary and plain meaning of "sudden" in the context of the insurance policy and in conjunction with "accidental," and not in the abstract. Any departure from these interpretative rules, as implied by LaSal's arguments, should not be countenanced.

B. Appellant's argument that the "sudden and accidental" exception to the pollution exclusion is ambiguous ignores clear policy language.

LaSal primarily argues that "sudden" is susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning. Appellant's Brief at 24. It argues that "sudden" can mean either "abrupt or immediate" or "unexpected." Id. LaSal urges the Court to follow the cases that have found the exception to the pollution exclusion to be ambiguous and therefore, interpreted in favor of coverage. See, e.g., Just v. Land Reclamation, Ltd., 456 N.W.2d 570 (Wis. 1990); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Klock Oil Co., 73 A.D.2d 486, 426 N.Y.S.2d 603 (1980); Clausen v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co., 259 Ga. 333, 380 S.E.2d 686 (Ga. 1979). Because of such alleged ambiguity, LaSal argues that the Court must ignore the clear terms of the exception to the pollution exclusion which allow coverage for damages arising from polluting discharges only when they are both sudden and accidental. LaSal's approach, while ingenious, violates the basic rules of Utah law which prohibits a court from

adding, ignoring or discarding words in the course of contractual interpretation. See, Cornwall, 369 P.2d at 929.

The Tenth Circuit, in affirming the United States District Court for the District of Utah in Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co., 962 F.2d 1484 (10th Cir. 1992), cert. denied, El Paso Natural Gas Co. v. Hartford Acc & Indem. Corp., 113 S.Ct. 411, 121 L.Ed.2d 335 (1992) stated that "reading 'sudden' without a temporal component renders 'accidental' redundant." Id. at 1489. The court further explained that "[w]hile both conditions might include 'unexpected' or 'unintended,' 'sudden' cannot mean 'gradual,' 'routine' or 'continuous.'" Id. Acknowledging that dictionaries may indicate that "sudden" and "accidental" have several overlapping meanings, the Tenth Circuit panel stated that courts "cannot use only the redundant definitions, however." Id.

The Court recognized that Utah law requires each contract provision to be given effect and that the "conjunctive association of 'sudden' with 'accidental' requires both terms to be viewed as 'separate, conditional requirements for coverage.' This interpretive rule thus removes any ambiguity created by common usage." Id.

Hartford also quoted New Castle Country v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., 933 F.2d 1162 (3rd Cir. 1991), (cited by LaSal in its brief in support of its argument) discounting the significance of dictionary definitions of "sudden":

By their very nature, dictionaries define words in the abstract, whereas here, we must ascertain whether the word "sudden" is ambiguous in the context of the specific insurance policy.

Hartford, 962 F.2d at 1489 (quoting New Castle Country, 933 F.2d at 1194).

Hartford further quoted New Castle Country which ruled that "conflicting precedent, while relevant, did not 'automatically mandate a finding of ambiguity'". Hartford, 962 F.2d at 1489 (quoting Newcastle Country at 1196).

Recent cases in other jurisdictions support this basic rule of policy interpretation. The Supreme Court of Florida in Dimmitt Chevrolet, Inc. v. Southeastern Fidelity Ins. Corp., No. 78, 293, 1993 WL 241520 (Fla. July 1, 1993)² acknowledged that dictionaries may be helpful "insofar as they set forth the ordinary, usual meaning of words. However, as noted in New Castle Country v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., dictionaries are 'imperfect yardsticks of ambiguity.'" Id. at 9 (quoting New Castle Country, 933 F.2d at 1193-94). The Florida Supreme Court stated that its duty was "to determine whether the word 'sudden' is ambiguous in the context of the specific insurance policy at issue." Id. (emphasis added).

The existence of multiple dictionary definitions of a word "is not the sine qua non of ambiguity. If it were, few words would be unambiguous." Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Ex-Cell-O

²A copy is attached in Appendix.

Corp., 702 F.Supp. 1317, 1324 (E.D. Mich. 1988), quoted in Hartford, 962 F.2d at 1489 n.6.

Because the accepted rules of contractual interpretation require courts to harmonize policy provisions in order to give all terms of the contract full effect, LaSal's approach is artificial and strained. Even though the word "sudden" can connote a sense of the unexpected, it does not stand alone in the pollution exclusion exception, but is part of the conjunctive phrase "sudden and accidental." Hartford, 933 F.2d at 1489. Accidental means "unexpected or unintended." Hence, if sudden is reduced to mean only "unintended or unexpected," "sudden and accidental" would be rendered "entirely redundant." Dimmitt at 9 (citing E. Joshua Rosenkranz, Note, *The Pollution Exclusion Clause through the Looking Glass*, at 74 Geo.L.J. 1237, 1240 (1986)).

The meaning of "sudden" in the context of the policy in question, rather than in a vacuum, is clearly understood and could only be made ambiguous through "a lawyer's ingenuity." See Dimmitt at 11 (quoting United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Star Fire Coals, Inc., 856 F.2d 31, 34 (6th Cir. 1988)).

This Court, in Gridley, reviewed the conflicting lines of cases from other jurisdictions, since it was a case of first impression in Utah. Despite such conflict, this Court ruled that the "sudden and accidental" exception to the pollution exclusion was clear and unambiguous, and that "sudden" always refers to a

temporal element. Id. at 527. That conclusion is consistent with the general rules of contractual interpretation set forth above.

This Court recognized the insightful analysis of the Supreme Court of Massachusetts by quoting Lumbermens Mut. Casualty Co. v. Belleville Industries, Inc., 407 Mass. 675, 555 NE.2d 568, 572 (1990) cert. denied, __ U.S. __, 112 S.Ct. 969 (1992):

For the word "sudden" to have any significant purpose, and not to be surplusage when used generally in conjunction with the word "accidental," it must have a temporal aspect to its meaning, and not just the sense of something unexpected. We hold, therefore, that when used in describing a release of pollutants, "sudden" in conjunction with "accidental" has a temporal element. The issue is whether the release was sudden. The alternative is that it was gradual. If the release was abrupt and also accidental, there is coverage for an occurrence arising out of the discharge of pollutants.

Gridley, 828 P.2d at 527.

Thus, this Court held that it has adopted the "more well-reasoned view of jurisdictions holding the pollution exclusion to be unambiguous and that sudden has a temporal element, 'specifically immediacy, abruptness, and quickness.'" Id. at 527. All other courts interpreting this exception to the pollution exclusion clause, applying Utah law, have reached the same conclusion.³

³See Anaconda Minerals Co. v. Stoller Chemical Co., 990 F.2d 1175 (10th Cir. 1993) (affirming United States District Court for the District of Utah decision finding pollution exclusion

Judge Rokich, in the case at hand, stated in his Memorandum Decision that the holding in Gridley best defines what constitutes a sudden and accidental discharge. He adopted the following language of Judge Russon from Gridley:

[T]he terms "sudden and accidental" are unambiguous. As commonly used, the meaning of sudden combines both elements of without notice or warning and quick or brief in time . . . sudden connotes a "temporal aspect of immediacy, abruptness, swiftness, quickness, instantaneous and brevity."

R. 1890 (quoting Gridley, 828 P.2d at 527 (quoting U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Morrison Grain Co., 734 F.Supp. 437, 446 (D.Kan. 1990), affd. 999 F.2d 489 (10th Cir. 1993))).

Despite the fact that an ongoing controversy exists among different jurisdictions, the better-reasoned cases continue to find "sudden" in the exception to the pollution exclusion to be unambiguous and to require a temporal element.⁴ Hence, there is

unambiguous); Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co., 962 F.2d 1484 (10th Cir. 1992) (affirming United States District Court, District of Utah decision holding pollution exclusion unambiguous). Hartford cited the decision of Judge Winder of the District Court in Anaconda Minerals, 773 F.Supp. at 1505 n.9, noting that Judge Winder quoted Sharon Steel v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., no. C-87-2306 and C-87-2311 at 28 (3rd Dist. Utah, July 20, 1988) as follows: "[W]ithout referring to dictionaries, case law or parol evidence, a reasonably prudent person would interpret 'sudden' as including 'temporal condition of being instantaneous and abrupt'". Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., 962 F.2d at 1490 n.7.

⁴See list of cases cited in ACL Technologies, Inc. v. Northbrook Property & Casualty Ins. Co., 17 Cal.App.4th 1773, 22 Cal.Rptr.2d 206, 209-211 (Cal.App. 4th Dist. 1993), petition for review denied ___ Cal.Rptr.2d ___ (Cal. 1993).

no reason for this Court to re-analyze this issue since that decision has already properly been made in Gridley in accordance with the principles of contractual interpretation firmly established by Utah case law. The trial court's judgments in our case on appeal were consistent with this Court's holding in Gridley and should, therefore, be affirmed.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT THE RELEASE OF THE GASOLINE FROM LASAL'S UNDERGROUND LINE WAS NOT SUDDEN.

In his Memorandum Decision, Judge Rokich concluded that Gridley, supra, "is the case that best defines what constitutes a sudden and accidental discharge." (R. 1890.) He adopted Gridley's language that "sudden connotes a `temporal aspect of immediacy, abruptness, swiftness, quickness, instantaneous and brevity.'" (R. 1980) (quoting Gridley, 828 P.2d at 527). The trial court also adopted Gridley's ruling that the "length of time that elapses before the leak is discovered or the amount of discharge does not render the fracture any less sudden," in situations where a discharge has a sudden inception rather than one which is gradual. (R. 1891.)

It should be noted for purposes of this appeal that LaSal is appealing that portion of the trial court's decision that ruled the pollution exclusion unambiguous, as well as its finding that the discharge was not sudden. Insurers understand that LaSal is not appealing that portion of the trial court's decision holding

that the elapsed time between the inception of the leak and its discovery does not render an otherwise sudden leak any less sudden. Therefore, the insurers will not specifically address this issue, except to the extent that it relates to the determination of the nature of the discharge, whether sudden or gradual.⁵

Most importantly for purposes of this appeal, the trial court distinguished the facts of the Gridley case from the case at hand. Based on the undisputed evidence established through extensive briefing by the parties as well as an evidentiary hearing involving qualified metallurgy experts, the trial court found that the failure of the pipe resulted from the process of corrosion. (R. 1899-1901.) In Gridley, the pipeline leak resulted from a "clean break" and was, therefore, deemed to be sudden. By contrast, the trial court in our case held "that a leak caused by corrosion is not sudden and accidental." (R. 1891.) Therefore, the pollution exclusion applies and precludes coverage for LaSal.

Despite LaSal's attempts to characterize Gridley's discussions concerning the difference between a "clean break" and one caused by corrosion as mere "dicta"⁶, such comparison of the

⁵This does not mean that the insurers necessarily agree with that premise, but rather, assert that even accepting it, they are nonetheless entitled to an affirmance of the trial court's judgment dismissing LaSal's complaint with prejudice.

⁶See Appellant's Brief at 30, 41-42.

differing causative processes is necessary for a full understanding of the holding of Gridley and should not be disregarded or reversed.

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